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The following report lists people of African descent who were enslaved by, rented by, worked for, or were mentioned in records pertaining to entities that evolved into Salem Academy and College (The Little Girls’ School, the Girls’ Boarding School, the Salem Female Academy, the Single Sisters’ Choir in Salem, and the Inspector’s House). The report begins with the first known occurrence in 1785 and continues in chronological order until the end of the Civil War in 1865.

This list is intended to be comprehensive based on the source material consulted; however, it is possible that other research may reveal new connections between the history of the Academy and College and enslaved or free people of African descent.

For each entry, I have included a short description of the person, along with the dates that are significant to their involvement with the school, their owner or purchaser if they were enslaved or rented, where they lived or worked, and their role at the site. Then, each entry lists all known source material, not only concerning interactions with the school, but any other known biographical information. If specific information appears in more than one source, I chose to include only one entry from a primary source, when possible. For example, the entry 1. Hanna, 1.a. comes from the minutes of the Aufseher Collegium, one of the governing bodies of Salem. This reference is included in many secondary sources, such as Jon Sensbach’s A Separate Canaan and Francis Griffin’s Less Time for Meddling. As the original minutes are in German, I did not review the original source material located in the Moravian Archives of the Southern Province. I decided to cite only Grant McAllister’s translation of the Aufseher Collegium minutes in his “Study of the School’s Education of Female Slaves and its Involvement with Slavery” since it is the closer to a primary source than the other material I reviewed.

I have included notes after many of the entries in order to provide context, clarification, or insight. I followed the following format in order to differentiate between the source material and my own commentary:

Known Sources:

1. Bibliographic information for each source here

a. Quoted source material in italics
Note: Any necessary contextual information is included here
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I was introduced to many of the sources I consulted in this project while interning for Old Salem Museums & Gardens’ Hidden Town Project in the Spring of 2018. The Hidden Town Lot Files for the Single Sisters’ House, the Inspector’s House, and the Girls’ Boarding School were essential in compiling the following report.

Many of the sources included in this report are minutes from Salem’s governing boards, the Aufseher Collegium and the Aeltesten Conferenz, or Elders’ Conference. The following is an excerpt from the Moravian Archives of the Southern Province explaining the purpose and duties of each of Salem’s governing boards:

“There was no civil government of mayor and board of aldermen, as we are accustomed to today. Rather, the church attended to all the affairs of the town. Salem’s Gemein Rath or Congregation Council first met on April 12, 1772, and its order of business was to elect the Aufseher Collegium or Board of Supervisors, which organized on April 13, 1772, and held its first formal meeting two days later. The Aeltesten Conferenz or Elders Conference began meeting in Salem on April 14, 1772. The Aeltesten Conferenz shepherded the spiritual or inward affairs of the community, and the Aufseher Collegium tended to the material or outward affairs. All major decisions, from grading of streets to penning cows out of the Square to arranging a marriage to whether the night watchman should sing a hymn on his rounds or merely blow his conch shell, were the concern of the Salem congregation boards. Though the Aeltesten Conferenz tended to spiritual matters and the Aufseher Collegium to material or financial matters, the two worked in close harmony together. This mutual cooperation is the pattern today of their successor organizations, the Central Board of Elders and Central Board of Trustees of Salem Congregation and the Board of Elders and Board of Trustees of Home Moravian Church.” Richard Starbuck, former Archivist of the Moravian Church, “Salem Congregation History,” Moravian Archives, Winston-Salem, North Carolina, https://moravianarchives.org/moravian-church-southern-province/salem-congregation/
Anyone wishing to hire another person, as well as purchase or rent an enslaved person, was required to get the approval of the Aufseher Collegium. This is why the Aufseher Collegium records are incredibly useful in tracing hiring practices.
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1. Hanna

Enslaved girl of Adam Schumacher (or Shoemaker); accepted into the Little Girls’ School for an unknown period; enslaved by the Schumacher family from 1785

Dates of significance: January 5, 1785

Owner/Purchaser: Adam Schumacher

Lived/attended: “Little Girls’ School,” presumably in the Gemeinhaus

Role: Student at “Little Girls’ School,” details unknown

Known Sources:

1. Aufseher Collegium Minutes, January 5, 1785, in Grant McAllister’s 2018 “A Study of the School’s Education of Female Slaves and its Involvement with Slavery,” Salem Academy and College, pg. 4.

a. “Adam Schumacher asks for permission, that he be allowed to send his young Negro girl…of roughly ten years of age to the school, which is granted to him.
2. Adam Schumacher’s 1786 Will, “North Carolina Wills and Probate Records, 1665-1998,” database and digital images, Ancestry.com, “Probate Records, Stokes County, North Carolina, 1753-1971,” pg. 406. 

a. “I give and bequeath unto my dear and beloved wife Anna Margaretha Shoemaker my negro Slave named Hannah to be her Property with all her children if she the said slave should here after get any for all the Term of her life in this World…and after the departure of my said wife the said slave together with all her children shall then be the property of my children, the true heirs of my body.”
3. Bethania Diary entry, April 4, 1803, in McAllister’s “Study,” pg. 5.

a. “In the afternoon Br. Pfhol baptized the mortally ill little child of the Negro woman Hanna, who belongs to the Schumacher’s children.”
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2. “Negro boy”

Enslaved boy of Br. Schultze; indicated as a regular chimney sweep in the Single Sisters House

Dates of significance: December 30, 1788

Owner/Purchaser: Br. Schultze

Lived/worked: Single Sisters House

Role: Domestic labor (chimney sweep)

Known Sources:

1. Aufseher Collegium and Elders Conference Minutes in “Gottfried Schultz” file, Old Salem Wachovia Resident Database, Old Salem Museums & Gardens, Winston-Salem, NC, card 2. 

a. “10 Dec. 1783— Br. Schulz is willing to let his negro boy do the sweeping of the chimneys.
b. “30 Dec. 1783— We shall employ Gottfried Schulze for the transporting of the earth of the Single Sisters cellar.”
Note: Whether or not Schultze utilized enslaved labor when completing this task is unknown.

c. “28 Feb. 1786— He [Johannes Tesch] complains mainly that the sweeping of the chimneys is too hard for him and that afterwards he is unable for some days to do any work. The negro boy of Br. Schulz could be appointed to do that work again under the supervision of his master.”
Note: When it became too physically difficult for a white indentured servant to complete the task of chimney sweeping, an enslaved teenager was brought in to take over the task. This entry also implies that the “negro boy” stopped sweeping chimneys sometime between 1783 and 1786. See Source 2 in this section for more information.

d. “4 Apr. 1786— Br. Schultze has taken over the sweeping of the chimneys. He himself is going around with his negro every time.”
e. “4 Sep. 1786— Since we fear that the Negro boy at Schulz’s – the latter seems to have no gift in bringing him up and keeping him in the proper bounds – might run away and the Cong. Diacony might lost what is invested in him, Br. Bagge is to be asked to look about for a suitable buyer with whom the boy could be better placed. Schulz’s must be notified beforehand.”
Note: The presence of later entries imply that this sale did not occur.
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f. “3 June 1788— Br. Gottfried Schulz has complained that his Negro boy gets so stiff and tired from sweeping the chimneys and, because he is growing, many chimneys get too narrow for him…”
Note: This description of the physical difficulty of chimney sweeping echoes the entry from February 28, 1786.

g. “30 Dec. 1788— In the house of the single Sisters there is a chimney into which the Negro boy of Schultz cannot climb anymore because it is too narrow… Br.
Schultz [also] complains that his time does not allow for him to go around at all times with the boy… Until a change is made Gottlieb Shultz shall report it if his

Negro boy is unable to sweep one of the chimneys.”

h. “13 Jan. 1789— Br. Gottlieb Shultz is willing to take care, together with his
Negro boy, the chimney sweeping for another year.”

i. “18 Aug. 1789— Since Br. Schulz demands to be released, with his Negro, from sweeping the chimneys we thought that Chr. Nissen…would be more fitting for that job.”
2. Aufseher Collegium and Elders Conference Minutes in “Johannes Tesch” file, Old Salem Wachovia Resident Database, cards 2 and 3.

a. “3 Dec. 1783— Since the boy Tesch cannot do the sweeping of the chimneys because of his chest, we thought that Schultz’s Negro boy could do it in the future under the direction of Charles Holder…”
b. “14 Jan. 1784— It is time to have the chimneys swept again, but since the negro boy…has…the measles…we shall have to see that Charles Holder lets the boy Tesch sweep the chimneys which are most necessary to be swept.”
Note: this entry helps to explain why there is no mention of the “negro boy” sweeping chimneys between late 1783 and 1786.

c. “10 Apr. 1786— Yesterday the S. Brn’s Choir [Single Brothers Choir] had a bad scare when the kitchen chimney – which had been swept recently – caught fire to such an extent that the whole House was in danger of being burned own… From this and other experiences of chimneys burning recently it must be gathered that John Tesch has become unfaithful in sweeping them. Conf. felt he must be excluded from Communion. An examination of all chimneys in the place must be made. This is entrusted to Gottlob Krause who may have Schulz’s Negro boy for help.”
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3. Anna Maria Samuel (1781-1798)

Enslaved daughter of Johann Samuel, the first Black Moravian in Salem, and Maria Samuel; a member of the Older Girls’ Choir in Salem in 1793 to 1795; died February 13, 1798 from a fever; she is buried in Bethabara.

Dates of significance: 1793-1795

Owner/Purchaser: The Moravian Church (parents were owned by the Bethabara church; Anna Maria and her siblings were also owned by the Church until they were freed in 1797) Lived/worked: Older Girls’ Choir, Single Sister’s House

Role: Student, details unknown

Known Sources:

1. Single Sisters Diary entry, June 4, 1793 in McAllister’s “Report,” pg. 3

a. “At 10 o’clock was the admission of 2 children into the choir, Elisabeth Stockburger and the black Anna Mary, both from Bethabara. At 2 o’clock was their love feast. Afterwards they were seen in classes and then followed the festival homily.”
2. Anna Maria Samuel’s Death notice, February 18, 1798 in McAllister’s “Report,” pg. 3

a. “In the year 1793 on the 4th of June she was admitted into the Single Sisters Choir in Salem.”
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4. Elisabeth, or “Betsey” (1801-1873, approx.)

Daughter of Phoebe and Bodney, two of the first communicant members of the African American Moravian congregation in Salem; Betsey is the first known enslaved laborer at the Girls Boarding School; she worked from 1810 to 1817 when she was purchased by Conrad Kreuser to be the wife of Sam, a man he purchased from the Single Sisters in Salem. Betsey and Sam were owned by various individuals throughout their lifetimes; they had eight children, three of whom died in infancy; the exact date of Betsey’s death is unknown but she lived until at least 1873; Sam and Betsey are both buried in the Second St. Philip’s cemetery.

Dates of significance: October 3, 1810-April 21, 1817

Owner/Purchaser: Abraham Steiner, Inspector of the Girls’ Boarding School

Lived/worked: Girls’ Boarding School, exact location of housing unknown

Role: Domestic labor (laundry)

Known Sources:

1. Elders Conference Minutes in “Maids, Servants, and Slaves in Salem Households,”

Joanna Roberts, 2005, Old Salem Museums & Gardens, pg. 53

a. “October 3, 1810— Br. Steiner asked what he should do if Geo. Hauser offers to sell him one of his Negro women, 19 years old, for the Girls' Anstalt, since Hauser needs money. Eld. Conf. advised Br. Steiner to be governed by circumstances, stipulating that if the Negro girl is bought the Steiner's must keep her in their house and have oversight of her.”
Note: The age listed here is believed to be a transcription error. Betsey would have been roughly 9 years old in 1810 instead of 19 years old. She was purchased by Abraham Steiner from George Hauser at the same time that her family was purchased by the Wachovia Administration from Hauser.

2. Aufseher Collegium Minutes in “Maids, Servants, and Slaves,” Roberts, pg. 53-54.

a. “October 10, 1810— The announcement was made that Br. Steiner has bought a Negro woman for the Girls Boarding School with permission of the Elders Conference, however, without informing the Aufseher Collegium about this hasty purchase. The Negro woman is lodged in the house of Br. Steiner and under the supervision of Sr. Steiner. Under the well-known condition that she is sold again as soon as there is any reason for complaint, the Collegium will have to consent to it. Generally the Collegium would not have given its consent, if it had been asked beforehand, but would have suggested that Br. Steiner take a Negro woman, this one or another, for a monthly rent.”
Note: Abraham Steiner and his wife lived in a house on the Northwest corner of Academy Street and Main Street. They did not move into the Inspector’s House until 1811.

b. “October 30, 1810— We discussed once more the Negro woman which Br. Steiner has bought for the Boarding School, after the mentioned Brother himself had come to attend our session upon being requested to do so. Though we are
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convinced from the necessity of such a helper in the Boarding School household, we nevertheless asked Br. Steiner to consider what unpleasant consequences this hasty purchase could have, if some private persons would demand this same right. Therefore the suggestion was made that he sell her again and rent a Negro woman, whom he might be able to keep as long as her behavior permits this. That way we also would not have to hear the mentioned consequences. Br. Steiner declared that he is going to execute this proposal as soon as he will have the opportunity to do so.”

3. Entry in Ledger A, pg. 159, Ledger Collection, Salem Academy & College Archives, Winston-Salem, NC. 

a. “By ditto [washing], for Negro woman Betsey…$400.”
4. “Inventories of the Boarding School at Salem,” May 31, 1811, Vertical Files, Salem

Academy and College Archives, Winston-Salem, NC. 
a. “Washing, one Negro Woman Betsey, $400.00-$25.00; deduced 12 [unknown symbol] is in 6 months.”
b. “Washing, one Negro Woman Betsey, $400.00-$100.00, deduced 25 [unknown symbol] $300.”
Note: Betsey’s value has decreased since she was purchased in 1810 for $400.

5. Aufseher Collegium Minutes in “Maids, Servants, and Slaves,” Roberts, pg. 58

a. “Aug. 28, 1811— We read once more the minutes from August 6 (See 5. Sam
4.a.) and discussed the permission given to Br. Kreuser for the purchase of the Negro Sam and the different conditions attached to this purchase. Several doubts were uttered as to this whole matter, and the main doubt appeared to be the fact that Br. Steiner has bought a Negro girl some time ago on account of the Girls Boarding School. Both of these Negroes are single, and will thus through their work find an opportunity to come to know each other, in spite of best supervision and strictest prohibition to seek such a connection. This would necessitate both their dismissal from our Community. Therefore it was desired that the intended sale of the Negro is affected as soon as possible, because otherwise the required help for the Sisters Diaconate as well as the Boarding school through the Negro and the Negro girl at the same time will become impossible after awhile. Under such circumstances Br. Kreuser showed his willingness to resign from his intention of buying the Negro. However, considering the necessity of such a help in the Sisters Diaconate, most members of the Collegium did not agree to such statement of his. Our members hold that the Negro should be bought in spite of all by Br. Kreuser and then be rented, otherwise this would be done by somebody else.”

Note: The Collegium is concerned that Betsey and Sam will meet and begin a relationship that would require them to leave the town of Salem. The maintenance and work of both the Girls Boarding School and the Single Sisters House “will become impossible after a while” without the help of the enslaved workers. They also
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express their desire for Conrad Kreuser, the “curator” of the Single Sisters Choir, to purchase Sam outright and then rent him back to the Single Sisters House.

6. Elder’s Conference Minutes in Mel White’s “The Ten Stones,” St. Philips Exhibit research, 2002, Old Salem Museums & Gardens, pg. 8.

a. “December 28, 1812— In accordance with the opinion of the Collegium, the
Elders’ Conference has now decided not to permit the single Negro woman Eliz.

Butney (sic) of becoming a member of the Salem community.”

Note: The last name given to Betsey in this entry refers to her father, Bodney. Along with her mother Phoebe, Bodney was enslaved by the Wachovia Administration and was one of the founding members of the African American Moravian congregation in Salem. They, along with two of their children, became members of the Salem Community in November 1810:

Nov. 27, 1810— “The Collegium agreed also the suggestion that the former Bethabara Negroes Bodney and Phoebe, who together with their two children belong to the Unity Administration, will most suitably be considered as members of our Community in their new lodgings.” (Aufseher Collegium Minutes in “Maids, Servants, and Slaves,” Roberts, pg. 55.)

7. Aufseher Collegium Minutes in “Maids, Servants, and Slaves,” Roberts, pg. 61

a. “December 8, 1812— [Illegible] Dealing with a Negro woman Elisabeth Deitrich or Neutrich and her services in the Girls Boarding School, about which the Elders Conference asks the Collegium for its opinion. [There is nothing in the Elders' Conference minutes referring to help in the Girls' Boarding School during the last six months of the year.]”
Note: This entry is most likely referring to Betsey by her full name, Elisabeth. There is no record of another enslaved woman in the service of the Girls Boarding School during this time. This could refer to the previous entry and the deliberation over the decision to admit or deny her membership to the Salem community.

b. "March 30, 1813— It was reported to the Collegium that Br. Steiner in still keeping the negress in service of the Girls Boarding School as his property, in spite of the promise recently of selling her. It seems that he does not find any opportunity to do so. In order not to have him handicapped and violate our Community rules by such circumstances Br. von Schwienitz declared himself willing to take over the girl in the name of the Unity administration, of which her parents are also a property. In return he would be willing then to rent this girl to Br. Steiner. In case the negress should not conduct herself properly she shall be dismissed from the Community according to our statutes.”
Note: Lewis de Schwienitz was the “Administrator of the Unity’s Possessions in North Carolina” in 1813. He offered to purchase Betsey on behalf of the Unity Administration and then rent her back to the school, as to comply with the Church’s
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rules on individual ownership. He is the father of two Salem Female Academy presidents: Emil de Schweinitz (1848-1853) and Robert de Schweinitz (1853-1866).

8. “Inventories of Salem Boarding School,” May 31, 1814, Vertical Files, Salem Academy and College Archives, Winston-Salem, NC. 

a.  “One Negro Woman” valued at “$360.00.”

Note: Betsey’s value has decreased since she was purchased in 1810 for $400.

9. Aufseher Collegium Minutes in “Maids, Servants, and Slaves,” Roberts, pg. 67-68

a. “August 30, 1814— We shall also see to it that the Negro woman bought for the Girls Boarding School is to be sold at the first opportunity. And since she must not be dismissed from her services at all, she may be taken into rent then.”
Note: Throughout the time between Betsey’s purchase and sale, the Aufseher Collegium continually requests that she be sold from the Girls Boarding School to the church organization or to an individual living outside of town and then rented back to the school. The Aufseher Collegium did not want to appear to give preferential treatment to the school or any other individuals who still independently owned enslaved people (See 5. Sam 7.a. for the full August 30, 1814 entry).

10. Aufseher Collegium Minutes in “Maids, Servants, and Slaves,” Roberts, pg. 72

a. “April 25, 1815— The Negro woman, who serves in the Girls Boarding School, has so far been kept a property of the School. We are satisfied for the time being with the regulation that Br.' Steiner has promised to sell her to Br. von Schwienitz, as soon as her dismissal from the Community should become necessary. In that case Br. von Schweinitz would bring her to the plantation in our neighborhood, where her parents are living. Since several Brethren of the community are objecting to our regulation, we thought it better to see to it that Br. Steiner sells the Negro woman right now to Br. von Schweinitz. The latter is therefore going to talk to the former about this matter, and after the sale contract has been concluded the Negro woman may continue her services in the Boarding School as long as the Community Direction does not find it necessary to dismiss her from the Community."
Note: At the time of writing, Betsey is fourteen years old. Language referring to her as a woman is consistent with the language used when denying her membership to the Salem community on December 28, 1812.

b. “May 8, 1815— Concerning the Negro woman in the Girls Boarding School, we very well see that her further stay in that service is most necessary. We wish, however, under consideration for who might object to the whole matter, that this is done in such a way that those discontented elements do not have any right for objection. Br. Steiner has made a more detailed declaration in this matter which is going to be discussed the next time."
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11. “Inventories of Salem Boarding School,” May 31, 1815, Vertical Files, Salem Academy and College Archives, Winston-Salem, NC. 

a. “Washing – Besides one Negro Woman”
12. Aufseher Collegium Minutes in “Maids, Servants, and Slaves,” Roberts, pg. 75

a. “April 21, 1817— The Negro woman Elisabeth, serving in the girls Boarding School, is going to be bought by Br. Kreuser and shall be married to his Negro Sam. The Collegium does not object if then one of the Negro women in the possession of Br. von Schwienitz are rented to the Boarding school, for example the Negro woman Caty might be found suitable for this service.”
Note: See 5. Sam and 6. Caty

13. Salem Diary in Tanya Thacker’s “African American References in Wachovia/Salem,”

1994, Hidden Town Project, Lot Files, Lot 14, pg. 178

a. “July 12, 1817— In the house of the auswartige Negro Br. Botney, belonging to this congregation, his daughter Betsey was married by Br. Abraham Steiner to the
Negro Sam belonging to Br. Kreuser.”

14. Baptism record in the Wachovia Church Book, Thacker’s “African American References,” pg. 11

a. “April 2, 1818— Catharina Matilda, of Samuel and Elisabeth, slaves of Kreuser.”
b. “March 18, 1819— Luanna Maria, of Samuel and Elisabeth, slaves of Kreuser.”
Note: Sam and Betsey’s first four children (Catharina, Luanna, Rebecca, and a stillborn male) were enslaved by Conrad Kreuser. See genealogical information in White’s “Ten Stones,” Hidden Town Lot Files.

15. Death notice in the African Church Book in Thacker’s “African American References,” pg. 24

a. “December 2, 1823— A stillborn male Infant. His parents were Samuel and his wife Elisabeth, both the properties of Conrad Kreuser.”
b. “August 6th, 1825— A male Infant, that died soon after its birth. His parents were Samuel and his wife Elisabeth, both the properties of Abraham Hauser.”
Note: Sometime between the previous entry in late 1823 and this entry in August of 1825, Sam and Betsey were purchased by Abraham Hauser.

16. African Church Diary in Mel White’s “Ten Stones,” pg. 9

a. “June 3, 1833— Samuel and Betsy expressed their great joy that they had received new masters in Bro. and Sister Denke; even though they still have to continue to work for their former owner Hauser until August, Bro. Denke issued the order yesterday that they must enjoy the attendance of the services here without any hindrances.”
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Note: This note implies that Sam and Betsey were hindered from attending church services while enslaved by Abraham Hauser.

17. Death notice in the African Church Book in Thacker’s “African American References,” pg. 28

a. “21 Sept 1833-22 Sept 1833— A stillborn female child, the Daughter of Sam and Betsy, the property of Chr. Frd. Denke”
Note: Betsey and her husband Sam are no longer enslaved by Abraham Hauser. They are now owned by Christian Frederick Denke.

18. Baptismal records in Mel White’s “The Ten Stones,” pg. 8.

a. “She was enslaved by Abraham Steiner for Wachovia Administration on Sept. 3, 1837.”
b. “Betsy was said to be living with Abraham Steiner at the time of this baptism [in
1841].

Note: The Abraham Steiner mentioned here is the son of Abraham Steiner, the second president of the Girls Boarding School and the person who originally purchased her from George Hauser in 1810.

19. Death notice from the African Church Book in Thacker’s “African American

References,” pg. 179

a. “August 6, 1861— Phebe, an aged communicant member, formerly the servant of the Unity’s Adm. in Wachovia, - for so many years residing with her daughter
Betsy, at Br. John Beyerle’s, where she was supported by a pension from the Un.

Adm. – Her age was about 90 years. Her remains were interred on the new cemetery for colored people.”

Note: Phoebe was living with Betsey, who was enslaved by John Byerly, at the time of her death in 1861. Bodney had died many years earlier in 1829. This entry implies that Betsey and her mother Phoebe had been living with Byerly for many years. There is no known record of how Betsey left Abraham Steiner’s household and came to be owned by John Byerly.

20. 1870 U.S. Census of Forsyth County, Broadbay Township, in Mel White’s “The Ten Stones,” pg. 9.

a. “She [Betsy] was living in 1870 in the Broadbay Township next door to her brother Lewis in whose home lives also their sister Viney.
Note: Betsey is listed in the census as “Elizabeth Byerly.” John Byerly was her last known owner. She is living with Ned Breitz, her son. Her age is 76. Her occupation is “Keeping House.” Her place of birth is North Carolina. She cannot read or write.
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21. Edward Fries’ Marriage Record, January 26, 1873. North Carolina County Registers of Deeds, North Carolina State Archives, database and digital images, Ancestry.com.

a. “…Edward Fries of Broadbay Township aged 44 years old, colored, the son of
Sam Black and Elizabeth Byerly, the father now dead, the mother living, resident of Broadbay township.”

Note: Edward Fries is Betsey and Sam’s seventh child (For a full list of children, see Mel White’s Ten Stones, pg. 10). This is the last known record of Betsey.
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5. Sam

An enslaved man who worked in the Single Sisters House from 1811 to 1817. He was enslaved by an unknown person and rented by the Single Sisters Choir to manage their household. He was purchased by Conrad Kreuser in 18 and was rented to the Single Sisters on an annual basis until 1817. He was then married to Betsey, an enslaved laborer for the Girls’ Boarding School (See 4. Betsey) Betsey and Sam were owned by various individuals throughout their lifetimes. They had eight children, three of whom died in infancy. Sam died in 1868 and is buried in the Second St. Philip’s cemetery.

Dates of significance: 1811-1817

Owner/Purchaser: Conrad Kreuser

Lived/worked: Single Sisters’ House, exact location of housing unknown

Role: Domestic labor (working in “the Sisters management”)

Known Sources:

1. Aufseher Collegium Minutes in “Maids, Servants, and Slaves,” Roberts, pg. 55

a. “January 8, 1811— In the name of the Single Sisters' Choir Workers Br. Kreuser made the request that their Diaconate may employ also for the future year the Negro Sam, against which no objections were made with the usual condition that he may stay only as long in our Community, as his behavior is accordingly. The Collegium wished that in case this is carried out, the mentioned negro should not have his night quarters on the territory of the Single Sisters, but rather with Br.
Folz or Holland.”

Note: This entry mentions the possibility of Sam working in the Single Sisters House.

His owner at this time is unknown.

2. Aufseher Collegium Minutes in “Maids, Servants, and Slaves,” Roberts, pg. 55

a. “January 8, 1811— It was not possible to hire the Negro Sam for services in the single Sisters Choir Diaconate, since his master has taken him home already.”
3. Aufseher Collegium Minutes in “Maids, Servants, and Slaves,” Roberts, pg. 57

a. “April 2, 1811— Br. Kreuser announced that in the name of the single Sisters Diaconate he has hired for the services of the Sisters Diaconate a Negro Sam. This employment agreement will last for a month.”
4. Aufseher Collegium Minutes in “Maids, Servants, and Slaves,” Roberts, pg. 58

a. “August 6, 1811— The master of the Negro Sam is intending to leave the neighborhood of the Community and intends to sell his Negro here. Sam has been hired for one year for services in the single Sisters Diaconate, for which he has been rented through the curator, Br. Kreuser. Presently he is working in the Sisters management. Br. Kreuser therefore would like to have the opinion of the Collegium, asking whether he can be permitted to buy this Negro on his own account and leave him to work in the Sisters Diaconate for rent payment. Sam is becoming almost indispensable in the sisters' household, and his behavior during
17

the years, he has working in the community, has been good. Br. Kreuser is willing to enter the conditions and give the promise that he is going to dismiss him and sell him on a farm or some other place distant from Salem, if his behavior should require this measure, and if the Community Direction finds his dismissal necessary. He is going to rent the Negro only for one year to the Sisters diaconate, after the time of which he is going to apply for further permission to the Community Direction, as it is usually done in such cases. He also would be willing to send him away during the year, if the Community Direction should require this. The Collegium saw on one side the necessity for such a help in the Sisters Diaconate, and the majority of our members hold the following opinion: Br. Kreuser shall be given permission to buy the mentioned Negro and rent him for one year to the Choir Diaconate of the single Sisters, and this under the limitation that he sends him away as soon as the Community Direction finds this necessary. There are even less objections since Br. Kreuser can easily employ him on his plantation. The Brethren of the Collegium also did not believe that any private Brother could demand for himself the same right, though each similar case will have to be considered separately and according to the circumstances permission or refusal will be given.”

Note: This agreement between Conrad Kreuser and the Single Sisters was intended to last for one year.

b. “August 28, 1811— “We read once more the minutes from August 6 and discussed the permission given to Br. Kreuser for the purchase of the Negro Sam and the different conditions attached to this purchase. Several doubts were uttered as to this whole matter, and the main doubt appeared to be the fact that Br. Steiner has bought a Negro girl some time ago on account of the Girls Boarding School. Both of these Negroes are single, and will thus through their work find an opportunity to come to know each other, in spite of best supervision and strictest prohibition to seek such a connection. This would necessitate both their dismissal from our Community. Therefore it was desired that the intended sale of the Negro is affected as soon as possible, because otherwise the required help for the Sisters Diaconate as well as the Boarding school through the Negro and the Negro girl at the same time will become impossible after awhile. Under such circumstances Br. Kreuser showed his willingness to resign from his intention of buying the Negro. However, considering the necessity of such a help in the Sisters Diaconate, most members of the Collegium did not agree to such statement of his. Our members hold that the Negro should be bought in spite of all by Br. Kreuser and then be rented, otherwise this would be done by somebody else.
Note: This entry is a good example of competing attitudes toward individual slaveholding in Salem after the turn of the century. While the Aufseher Collegium wishes to sell Sam as soon as possible before he and Betsey have a chance to meet and enter into a relationship, which seemingly would require them to be dismissed
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from the community, they also recognize that Sam and Betsey cannot be easily replaced. They decide to allow Conrad Kreuser to proceed with his initial plan.

5. Aufseher Collegium Minutes in “Maids, Servants, and Slaves,” Roberts, pg. 60

a. “September 8, 1812— Br. Kreuser asked for permission to rent the Negro Sam for one more year to the Single sisters Choir Diaconate, with the customary condition that if his conduct should necessitate this, he should be taken out of the Community. Br. Kreuser obtained permission."
6. Aufseher Collegium Minutes in “Maids, Servants, and Slaves,” Roberts, pg. 63

a. March 29, 1814— “With consent of the Collegium Br. Kreuser is going to rent his
Negro Sam for another year to the single Sisters Choir, so that he may serve in their household and management.”

Note: The entry does not indicate what serving in the “household and management” of the Single Sisters entails.

7. Aufseher Collegium Minutes in “Maids, Servants, and Slaves,” Roberts, pg. 67-68

a. “August 30, 1814— Reading the above-mentioned agreement, we also discussed the duty falling on the Collegium, to leave nothing undone that in connection with our rule, those Negroes possessed by any of our Brethren in the Community are sold. In case their help is needed urgently another help can be rented in the place of these colored servants.
Thus we will have to find a Brother, who would be able and willing to enter the services of the single Sisters Diaconate, and could take over the work of the Negro Sam, who is owned by Br. Kreuser, and has been rented to the Sisters Diaconate. Sam could be sold under those circumstances.

We shall also see to it that the Negro woman bought for the Girls Boarding School is to be sold at the first opportunity. And since she must not be dismissed from her services at all, she may be taken into rent then.

The dismissal of the two mentioned Negroes from their services in the Community would also serve to satisfy several of our Brethren in the Community, and moreover we may hope that in such case the resolution about the keeping of Negroes will be observed more strictly. Thus Br. Briez will also have to get rid of his Negro John Emanuel, who belongs to the Red Tannery, and Br. Winkler of his Negro woman.

…

Br. Byhan was suggested as a fitting servant to take over the place of the Negro Sam in the large management of the single Sisters Choir Diaconate. According to his own statement about this matter there seemed to be quite an immense doubt whether he would make up his mind about accepting the job or not. We though it reasonable therefore to ask our Br. von Schweinitz of discussing with him the matter in the name of the Collegium to see that he comes to a decision soon, if possible a favorable one, if he finds that he may hope for a good payment and adequate accommodations. In this connection the suggestion was made that on the part of the Single Sisters Diaconate a house should be built to
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serve as living quarters for such a Brothers, which could be situated quite in the neighborhood of the Sisters House, so that he could always be at hand, if needed for any job. If such a construction should be approved of and be executed, we shall have to see to it though, that enough room is left between this new construction and the Choir House, in order that always an additional building can be set up beside the Sisters House. Thus such a construction should be put up on the adjacent lot towards south.”

Note: This entry occurs after an 1814 agreement in Salem to put a stop to individual slave ownership. More frequently, individuals began pointing out that the Girls’ Boarding School and the Single Sisters’ House contained enslaved workers who were purchased by individual people within Salem instead of rented from the Unity Administration. It is suggested that Betsey be rented back to the Girls’ Boarding School but Sam will be moved to Conrad Kreuser’s plantation outside of town. In order to replace him, the Aufseher Collegium suggests that the single Brother Briez move into living quarters near the Sisters’ House. Neither of these suggestions were followed.

8. Aufseher Collegium Minutes in “Maids, Servants, and Slaves,” Roberts, pg. 68-69

a. “September 27, 1814— For good reasons the conference which Br. von Schweinitz was to hold with Br. Byhan in the name of the Collegium did not yet take place. It will however be attended to in the near future, since we first wanted to know, what actually his true opinion about the suggestion made to him is. We shall then know definitely, whether he is willing to enter services in the single Sisters Choir Diaconate. If the last mentioned or any other Brother should be employed in the management of the Sisters House, we will have the possibility of dismissing the Negro Sam from our Community. Since the Negro Sam really is a good soul and very loyal servant, it was desired that he would be purchased by the Community Diaconate and could then settle on a neighboring place beyond the Wach at a mile's distance from the community. This would be arranged also for another reason, namely to have an opportunity of selling the Negro Dick with his wife, who presently live on that site, and who do not have a good character. If he would be sold, it should be thus that both of them disappear from the neighborhood.
Note: This entry reveals the Aufseher Collegium’s good opinions of Sam while also showing how his possible purchase would be manipulated to benefit the Community Diaconate; if Sam takes over the proposed site beyond the river, they can sell Dick, who has caused the them Diaconate issues in the past.

9. Aufseher Collegium Minutes in “Maids, Servants, and Slaves,” Roberts, pg. 71

a. “November 22, 1814— Since we were not able to find any Brother willing to enter the services in the single Sisters Choir Diaconate, and be at hand for their needs at all times, the Negro Sam will have to stay there also in the future.”
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10. Aufseher Collegium Minutes in “Maids, Servants, and Slaves,” Roberts, pg. 70

a. “April 11, 1815— With the consent of the Collegium Br. Kreuser is going to rent his Negro Sam for another year to the Single Sisters Diaconate, since they need his services in their management."
11. Aufseher Collegium Minutes in “Maids, Servants, and Slaves,” Roberts, pg. 74

a. “March 25, 1816— The Collegium consented to Br. Kreuser's renting his Negro
Sam for one more year to the single Sisters Diaconate.”

b. “September 23, 1816— After this year will have come to an end, the Single Sisters will not be able to rent the help of the Negro Sam for another period of time, since Br. Kreuser needs this Negro on his own plantation. It is therefore our task now to find another male helper, since the Sisters could not do without one in the management of their household. We hoped that this would be an opportunity to find a white Brother for this service, mainly since the present additional construction at the Choir House would make it possible to establish suitable living-quarters for such a Brother in the former bakery. The married Br. Philip Schneider from Freidland was mentioned once more in this connection, since several of the former objections are no longer existing in his case. Br. Kreuser is going to talk to the workers of the Single Sisters about it and if they should give their consent, he is also going to ask the mentioned Brother.”
Note: Conrad Kreuser plans to remove Sam from the Single Sisters’ House at the end of 1816. This gives the Aufseher Collegium the opportunity to replace him with a white man. Sam’s work is considered essential to the operation of the Sisters’ House but replacing him would satisfy those who see his individual ownership as preferential treatment.

c. “October 21, 1816— The single Sisters found numerous objections against Br. Christ. Jockel, who was suggested as their future helper in their management. These objections are mainly due to his large family. Moreover they do not see any possibility of keeping their weaver shop, as has been desired by the Collegium, if they are to house such a numerous family in their territory. They therefore suggest that after the Negro Sam is working on the new plantation of his master, Br. Kreuser, they rent another Negro from our neighborhood, preferably one of Dr. Schumann's Negroes, who is entitled to own them. They wish to rent this Negro under those conditions that he can at all times be dismissed, in which case they also could continue the weaver shop. Since it is permissible according to our Negro-stipulations to rent a Negro with the consent of the Collegium, and since our objection was due to the fact that the Negro Sam belonged to a Brother of the Community, who did not have any other place for him, and also since this kind of help is much cheaper for the Sisters Diaconate, the Collegium did not object against their proposal. Our consent will be necessary though after the Negro to be rented has been decided upon by the Sisters Diaconate, and the contract will have to be drafted in such a way that it can be cancelled at any time."
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Note: The Single Sisters’ have the permission of the Aufseher Collegium to rent an enslaved person when Sam leaves their services. This will satisfy the slaveholding stipulations and it will be cheaper than hiring a white man.

12. Aufseher Collegium Minutes in “Maids, Servants, and Slaves,” Roberts, pg. 75

a. April 21, 1817— The Negro woman Elisabeth, serving in the girls Boarding School, is going to be bought by Br. Kreuser and shall be married to his Negro Sam. The Collegium does not object if then one of the Negro women in the possession of Br. von Schwienitz are rented to the Boarding school, for example the Negro woman Caty might be found suitable for this service.
Note: The exact date of Sam’s departure from the Single Sisters’ House is unknown.

13. Salem Diary in Tanya Thacker’s “African American References in Wachovia/Salem,”

1994, Hidden Town Project, Lot Files, Lot 14, pg. 178

a. “July 12, 1817— In the house of the auswartige Negro Br. Botney, belonging to this congregation, his daughter Betsey was married by Br. Abraham Steiner to the
Negro Sam belonging to Br. Kreuser.”

14. Baptism record in the Wachovia Church Book, Thacker’s “African American References,” pg. 11

a. “April 2, 1818— Catharina Matilda, of Samuel and Elisabeth, slaves of Kreuser.”
b. “March 18, 1819— Luanna Maria, of Samuel and Elisabeth, slaves of Kreuser.”
Note: Sam and Betsey’s first four children (Catharina, Luanna, Rebecca, and a stillborn male) were enslaved by Conrad Kreuser. See full genealogical information in White’s “Ten Stones,” Hidden Town Lot Files.

15. Death notice in the African Church Book in Thacker’s “African American References,” pg. 24

a. “December 2, 1823— A stillborn male Infant. His parents were Samuel and his wife Elisabeth, both the properties of Conrad Kreuser.”
b. “August 6th, 1825— A male Infant, that died soon after its birth. His parents were Samuel and his wife Elisabeth, both the properties of Abraham Hauser.”
Note: Sometime between the previous entry in late 1823 and this entry in August of 1825, Sam and Betsey were purchased by Abraham Hauser.

16. Death notice in the African Church Book in Thacker’s “African American References,” pg. 28

a. “21 Sept 1833-22 Sept 1833— A stillborn female child, the Daughter of Sam and Betsy, the property of Chr. Frd. Denke”
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Note: Betsey and her husband Sam are no longer enslaved by Abraham Hauser. They are now owned by Christian Frederick Denke.

17. African Church Diary in Mel White’s “Ten Stones,” pg. 9

a. “June 3, 1833— Samuel and Betsy expressed their great joy that they had received new masters in Bro. and Sister Denke; even though they still have to continue to work for their former owner Hauser until August, Bro. Denke issued the order yesterday that they must enjoy the attendance of the services here without any hindrances.”
Note: This note implies that Sam and Betsey were hindered from attending church services while enslaved by Abraham Hauser.

18. African Church Diary in Mel White’s “Ten Stones,” pg. 9

a. “March 30, 1834— There was a detailed conversation with Sam (Denke’s), who has expressed his great longing to become a participant of the Holy Communion. The services today were very numerously attended. There were many here also from Waughtown.
19. “People in Second Colored Cemetery” list in Thacker’s “African American References,” pg. 22

a. 75) 1868, Jun 9, 10 – Sam (Byerle), aged man.
Note: Sam died in 1868. Like Betsey, there is no known record of how he came to be enslaved by John Byerly before his death.
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6. Caty

Purchased by the Wachovia Administration on October 4, 1810; six years old when purchased; daughter of Phoebe and Bodney; sister of Betsey, whose place she took in the laundry at the Girls Boarding School. See genealogical information in Mel White’s “Ten Stones” research for full family tree.

Dates of significance: 1819 or 1821

Owner/Purchaser: Wachovia Administration

Lived/worked: Girls’ Boarding School

Role: Domestic labor (laundry)

Known Sources:

1. Aufseher Collegium Minutes in “Maids, Servants, and Slaves,” Roberts, pg. 75

a. “April 21, 1817— The Negro woman Elisabeth, serving in the girls Boarding School, is going to be bought by Br. Kreuser and shall be married to his Negro Sam. The Collegium does not object if then one of the Negro women in the possession of Br. von Schwienitz are rented to the Boarding school, for example the Negro woman Caty might be found suitable for this service.”
Note: Caty was living on the Salem Plantation, south of Salem, with her parents Phoebe and Bodney. When her older sister Betsey was sold to Conrad Kreuser, she was rented from the Wachovia Administration to work in her place.

2. “May 31, 1817 Inventory of Salem Plantation Negroes” Thacker’s “African American References,” pg. 178

a. “Bodney, Phoeby, Caty, Emmanuel, Lewis………………………$786.00 Assa……………………………………………………………………$512.00 Davy……………………………………………………………………$237.77 Ann……………………………………………………………………$325.00 Daniel…………………………………………………………………$400.00 Lavinia…………………………………………………………………$446.00
Note: Bodney, Phoebe, and three of their children are valued at $786.00 in 1817.

3. Ledger entry in McAllister’s “Report,” pg. 9 a. “1819— Rent for a Negress.”
Note: According to McAllister’s research, this expense repeats in the school’s ledgers until 1840. It is not clear if this entry refers to Caty or another unnamed enslaved woman. Similarly, once Caty’s enslavement at the school is established by record in 1821, it is not clear how she remained in the services of the school.

4. Aufseher Collegium Minutes in “Maids, Servants, and Slaves,” Roberts, pg. 83

24

a. “July 16, 1821— It was announced a Negro woman serving in the [girls] school will be exchanged for her sister, and there was no objection on the part of the
Collegium.”

Note: While Caty was suggested to replace Betsey in 1817, this entry explicitly confirming the change does not occur until 1821.

5. Aeltesten Conferenz Minutes in McAllister’s “Report,” pg. 8

a. January 5, 1822— Br. Reichel reported that he had taken the single Sr. Mary White to help in the housekeeping, as the Negress Cathy had returned to the
Quarter because she was sick.”
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7. “One of Br. Schumann's Negroes”

A man enslaved by Dr. Frederick Schumann (From Old Salem Historic District’s National Register of Historic Places nomination: “Much of the food production for the town [of Salem] was planned to be provided by the Salem Farm, or Salem Plantation, a church-owned operation. The 300-acre tract, including broad bottom and rolling upland, was surveyed south across Salem Creek in 1769. This farm became the Schumann Plantation in 1815 when Dr. Schumann and family, with slaves, moved from Bethania to Salem and were located outside the town core because private ownership of slaves was prohibited in Salem until after 1847. Schumann manumitted his slaves in 1836 and provided for their passage to Liberia, West Africa. In 1868-72, this former farm was chosen by Moravian church leadership for the location of a Freedmen’s residential area named Liberia, soon known as Happy Hill.”)

This man’s identity is unknown and he worked in the Single Sisters’ House for an undetermined period of time. Due to this ambiguity, it is not possible to determine whether this individual was part of the group Dr. Schumann manumitted to Liberia in 1836.

Dates of significance: May 19, 1817

Owner/Purchaser: Dr. Frederick Schumann

Location: Single Sisters’ House

Role: Unknown, likely domestic labor

Known Sources:

1. Aufseher Collegium Minutes in Robert’s’ “Maids, Servants, and Slaves,” pg.

a. “October 21, 1816— “They therefore suggest that after the Negro Sam is working on the new plantation of his master, Br. Kreuser, they rent another Negro from our neighborhood, preferably one of Dr. Schumann's Negroes, who is entitled to own them. They wish to rent this Negro under those conditions that he can at all times be dismissed, in which case they also could continue the weaver shop. Since it is permissible according to our Negro-stipulations to rent a Negro with the consent of the Collegium, and since our objection was due to the fact that the Negro Sam belonged to a Brother of the Community, who did not have any other place for him, and also since this kind of help is much cheaper for the Sisters Diaconate, the Collegium did not object against their proposal. Our consent will be necessary though after the Negro to be rented has been decided upon by the Sisters Diaconate, and the contract will have to be drafted in such a way that it can be cancelled at any time."
Note: There is no evidence to suggest that an enslaved man from the Schumann plantation worked in the Single Sisters’ House at this time; however, once Betsey and Sam were moved to Conrad Kreuser’s plantation outside of town in April 1817, the Single Sisters followed through on the suggestion.

2. Aufseher Collegium Minutes in Robert “Maids, Servants, and Slaves,” pg. 75

a. “May 19, 1817— One of Br. Schumann's Negroes has entered services in the Sisters House administration."
Note: This occurred one month after both Sam and Betsey left Salem.
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8. “Negro girl”

Benjamin Reichel, Inspector of the Girls’ Boarding School, is given permission by the Aufseher Collegium to employ a “Negro girl.” It is unclear whether Reichel followed through on this allowance or if it merely remained a suggestion. (See 10. Negro girl”)

Dates of significance: February 23, 1818

Owner/Purchaser: Benjamin Reichel, Inspector of the Girls’ Boarding School

Lived/worked: Inspector’s House

Role: Domestic labor (housekeeping)

Known Sources:

1. Aufseher Collegium Minutes in Robert “Maids, Servants, and Slaves,” pg. 76

a. February 23, 1818— “In case more room should be needed for lodging of students in the Girls Boarding School, Br. Reichel now has the plan to establish a room in his house, where 12 girls could be housed and also boarded. If he should find it necessary to employ a little Negro girl for having more help in this matter, the Collegium does not object to his doing so.
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9. “A Negro”

An unknown person was purchased for the Single Sisters’ House.

Dates of significance: December 27, 1819

Owner/Purchaser: Single Sisters’ Diaconate

Lived/worked: Single Sisters’ House

Role: Unknown

Known Sources:

1. Aufseher Collegium Minutes in “Maids, Servants, and Slaves,” Roberts, pg. 79

a. “December 27, 1819— A Negro has been purchased for the single Sisters Diaconate, and the Bill of Sale has been issued under the name of Br. Schwienitz. The Collegium did not have any objection. We were, however, lead hereby to discuss the Negro question in relationship to our Community in general. In order to prevent all misunderstandings and discords, Br. Schweinitz is going to make a new plan, which will be presented to the Community Council, and which will provide accurately under what conditions a Brother and citizen of this Community will be able to buy a Negro.”
Note: Lewis de Schweinitz was the “Administrator of the Unity’s Possessions in North Carolina” and his name appears in several references to rental agreements when the enslaved person was owned by the Wachovia Administration. Also, this entry alludes to the updated slaveholding policies that were introduced in Salem in 1820.
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10. “Negro girl”

Benjamin Reichel, Inspector of the Girls’ Boarding School, purchased an enslaved ten-year-old girl to work in his household. The Aufseher Collegium had previously given him permission to do so in 1819 (See 8. Negro girl)

Dates of significance: November 11, 1822

Owner/Purchaser: Benjamin Reichel, Inspector of the Girls’ Boarding School

Lived/worked: Inspector’s House

Role: Domestic labor (housekeeping)

Known Sources:

1. Aufseher Collegium Minutes in Robert “Maids, Servants, and Slaves,” pg. 7

a. November 11, 1822— “Br. Reichel asked to announce that he has taken a Negro girl of an age of about 10 years into rent into his household."
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11. “Negro woman”

John Christian William Fries purchased an enslaved woman in 1823 and brought her to live in his household in Salem. As he already held one enslaved woman, the Aufseher Collegium disapproved of this purchase and requested that Fries send her to live outside of Salem on his plantation. Fries boarded Academy students in his home. According to an entry from 1825, Fries did not remove the second enslaved woman from his home as he had promised to do.

Dates of significance: December 29, 1823

Owner/Purchaser: John Christian William Fries

Location: Br. Fries’ house, where he housed boarding students

Role: Unknown, likely domestic labor

Known Sources:

1. Aufseher Collegium Minutes in Robert’s’ “Maids, Servants, and Slaves,” pg. 88

a. “December 29, 1823— The Elders Conference furthermore believes that Br. Fries has not acted in the framework of the regulation of the Community Council, when he purchased a second Negro woman, without making due notice to the Collegium or ask, whether he is permitted to have more than one Negro woman. Br. Reichel has declared that if Br. Fries needs two Negro women on account of the school children, boarded in his house, he would rather take the children into the school. Br. Reichel does not like the idea that more Negroes come into the Community on account of the Boarding School.”
Note: Benjamin Reichel, the Inspector of the Girls’ boarding School, disapproved of Fries’ purchase, even though Reichel himself purchased an enslaved girl for his household one year earlier.
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12. Lewis (1797-1824)

An enslaved man who died at the age of 26; property of the Single Sisters; husband of Sabina Lavinia, or “Viney”; son-in-law of Phoebe and Bodney; brother-in-law of Betsey and Caty. (Not to be confused with Lewis Foltz, Phoebe and Bodney’s eighth child; Phoebe was pregnant with Lewis when she was purchased by the Unity Administration in 1810. See 6. Caty 2.a. to see Lewis Foltz listed on an inventory of the Salem plantation.)

Dates of significance: February 22, 1824

Owner/Purchaser: Single Sisters

Location: Single Sisters’ House

Role: Unknown, likely domestic labor

Known Sources:

1. Aufseher Collegium Minutes in Robert’s’ “Maids, Servants, and Slaves,” pg. 88

a. “Feb. 22, 1824— The Negro Lewis of the Single Sisters Diaconate died. The single Sisters therefore have rented a free Negro, Christian Samuel, who is to help them in their household and management. The Collegium gave its consent to this."
Note: It is likely that Lewis assisted the Single Sisters in their “household management,” as they brought in Christian Samuel to replace him (See 13. Christian Samuel)

2. “List of Persons Buried Under/In Front of St. Philip’s” in Thacker’s “African American References,” pg. 18

a.  “30) Jan 26, 28, Lewis, married man”

Note: Lewis is buried at St. Philips Church in Salem.

3. Burial list, African Church Book in Thacker’s “African American References,” pg. 24

a. “26th January 1824, 28th January 1824— Lewis, a married man, aged 26 years, 8 months, & 15 days, the property of the Single Sisters at Salem. He was born the 10th of May 1797 near Germanton in Stokes County, North Carolina. In 1821 he married the single Sabina Lavinia, Daughter of Bodney & Phoebe, belonging to the Unity’s Administration. From his marriage he had no children. On the 28
December 1823 he was solemnly received into the congregation of colored people.”

Note: Sabina Lavinia is the fifth child of Phoebe and Bodney. She was born in 1803, after Betsy but before Caty. It is not clear when Lewis became the property of the Single Sisters.
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13. Christian Samuel (1797-1826)

Son of John Samuel and Mary Samuel; brother of Anna Maria Samuel; born enslaved to the Wachovia Administration and emancipated in 1801; rented by the Single Sisters for service in household management between 1824 and his death in 1826. Christian Samuel’s is one of the ten headstones on display in the Ten Stones exhibit in the St. Philips Log Church, Old Salem Museums & Gardens.

Dates of significance: February 22, 1824-March 19, 1826

Owner/Purchaser: Free, rented by Single Sisters

Location: Single Sisters’ House

Role: “Household management

Known Sources:

1. Letter from Frederic William Marshall to the County Court, March Term, 1801, in Mel

White’s “Ten Stones,” pg. 44.

a. “And whereas the said Negro John Samuel has by an Act of the last General Assembly of this state been emancipated…it is the humble request of the said John Samuel & Mary his Wife, that the Worshipful Court of this County may be pleased to rescind the said Indenture, and to consent that the said Frederic William Marshall may return the said Children to their natural Parents…”
Note: Christian Samuel’s parents, John and Mary Samuel, were both emancipated and requesting that their children be emancipated as well. Christian Samuel is the younger brother of Anna Maria Samuel. He was only a year old when she died. (See 3. Anna Maria Samuel)

2. Aufseher Collegium Minutes in Robert’s’ “Maids, Servants, and Slaves,” pg. 88

a. “Feb. 22, 1824— The Negro Lewis of the Single Sisters Diaconate died. The single Sisters therefore have rented a free Negro, Christian Samuel, who is to help them in their household and management. The Collegium gave its consent to this."
Note: The Single Sisters are “renting” the labor of a free person. Exact details of this financial transaction are unknown.

3. “List of Persons Buried Under/In Front of St. Philip’s” in Thacker’s “African American References,” pg. 20

a.  “35) Mar 19, 20, Christian Samuel, free and single”

Note: Christian Samuel is buried at St. Philips Church in Salem.

4. Burial list, African Church Book in Thacker’s “African American References,” pg. 24

a. “19th March 1826, 20th March 1826— Christian Samuel, a single free man. He was born the 2nd September 1797 at Bethabara in Stokes County, North Carolina.
His parents were John Samuel & his wife Mary.”
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5. African Church Diary in Mel White’s “Ten Stones,” pg. 4

a. “He was ill with influenza, then chest dropsy winter 1825 in Salem, Stokes County, NC. Christian did not leave his room often during his last six weeks. He was nursed faithfully by the Single Sisters, especially Sister Dorel Warner. He was described as Mulatto.”
Note: Christian Samuel was sick for an extended period of time. It is not clear if his “room” was in the Single Sisters’ House.

6. Salem Diary in Mel White’s “Ten Stones,” pg. 4

a. “March 30, 1826— Concerning the Negro congregation it may be added that on the 20th of this month there was the funeral of the free Negro Christian, who served some years (two) at the Sisters House. He often led the singing in church with his violin. He had a talent for music, could also read and write. Christian was not a member of the church but attended regularly. Sai to have been quiet and decent. He attended school in Bethabara and learned how to read and write well. Had a good memory for music.”
Note: Christian’s affinity for music is incorporated into the Ten Stones exhibit at the St. Philips Log Church in Old Salem Museums & Gardens.
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14. “Negro Women”

Little information is known about this woman. Benjamin Reichel and another member of the community are reported as purchasing “negro women” without permission in 1828. It is not known how long she remained in Reichel’s service.

Dates of significance: September 23, 1828

Owner/Purchaser: Benjamin Reichel

Location: Inspector’s House

Role: Unknown, likely domestic labor

Known Sources:

1. Aufseher Collegium Minutes in Robert’s “Maids, Servants, and Slaves,” pg. 91

a. “September 23, 1827— It was also reported that Br. Benade and Reichel have employed negro women without announcing this to the Collegium…”
Note: Reichel was the Inspector of the Girls Boarding School from 1816 to 1834. It is likely that this unnamed woman would have lived in the Inspector’s House with the Reichel family, as he had done previously (See 10. Negro girl)

2. Aufseher Collegium Minutes in Robert’s “Maids, Servants, and Slaves,” pg. 93

a. “August 18, 1828— Br. Reichel has employed a Negro woman, who is going to work for him during several days of the week."
Note: This entry occurs almost a year after Reichel is reported as employing a negro woman without permission. Whether this is the same person is unknown.

3. Benjamin Reichel in 1830 United States Federal Census, Stokes, North Carolina, database and digital images, Ancestry.com.

a.  “One female slave between 10 and 24 years of age”

Note: There is only one enslaved woman listed under Reichel in the census. If the previous two entries refer to two different people, only one of them lived in the Reichel household in 1830.
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15. Miles Phillipe

A free man serving in the Single Sisters House. He was swiftly dismissed in 1828 after the Single Sister Polly Maurer was accused of having an inappropriate relationship with him.

Dates of significance: June 7, 1828

Owner/Purchaser: Free

Location: Single Sisters House

Role: Unknown, likely domestic labor

Known Sources:

1. Aufseher Collegium Minutes in Robert’s “Maids, Servants, and Slaves,” pg. 92-93

a. “June 7, 1828— At the opening of the meeting the President informed the Collegium that the single Sr. Polly Maurer, who has served so far as maid in the kitchen of the Sisters House, left Salem yesterday to live with her brother in Waughtown. ... The reason for this step, taken on her own free account lies in the accusation raised against her of being on too familiar terms with a free Negro serving in the Sisters House. As she maintained this is not true. From other received since yesterday we gather that we were spared a rather unpleasant investigation, the result of which she probably anticipated. It is without question that the free Negro will have to be dismissed immediately. However, how the household is going to help itself without Miles Philippe will have to be left to the discretion of the Curator. There was no approval of the suggestions made to employ a white couple, a white man or a Negro woman. The former two proposals are unacceptable, since the single Sisters would feel embarrassed to command white people, and a Negro woman could not attend to the heavy work.”
Note: Miles Phillipe is made to leave the Single Sisters House along with the Single Sister Polly Maurer after they are accused of having an inappropriate relationship. The work Miles did for the Single Sisters is implied to be too hard for an enslaved woman to complete. This entry also reveals attitudes toward free people of color in Salem at the time. Even though he is free, the Single Sisters are not embarrassed to command Miles, as they would a white man.

b. “June 16, 1829— "In the place of the dismissed free Negro Miles, the outside living single Br. Heinrich Blum has been employed on probation for one month and thus serves in the household of the Single Sisters."
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16. Nat

Nat is most likely an enslaved worker in the service of the Girls’ Boarding School. The period of time he spent here is unknown.

Dates of significance: March 2, 1835

Owner/Purchaser: Unknown

Location: Girls’ Boarding School

Role: Unknown

Known Sources:

1. Aufseher Collegium Minutes in “Supplement #8,” Francis Griffin Notebook Collection,

Vertical Files, Salem Academy and College Archives, Winston-Salem, NC.

a. “March 2, 1835— Br. Jacobsen has taken a certain widow Hein from Bethabara on trial into the Boarding School since no fitting person could be found here. Concern was expressed on the propriety of keeping Negro Nat in service at the Boarding School because there is so much to be objected to about his character.”
Note: John Jacobson was the Inspector of the Girls’ Boarding School from 1834 to 1844.
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17. Kelby

A free man who worked for the Inspector John Jacobson and was present at the Single Sisters House.

Dates of significance: December 8, 1835

Owner/Purchaser: John Jacobson

Location: Single Sisters House

Role: Unknown

Known Sources:

1. Aufseher Collegium Minutes in Robert’s “Maids, Servants, and Slaves,” pg. 97-98

a. “December 8, 1835— Br. John Vogler notified that a free Negro, Kelby, who works at times by the day for Br. Jacobson, has become a perfect nuisance at the Single Sisters House and that Br. Jacobson should be requested not to employ this Negro any longer. Auf. Col. Agreed and further was of the opinion that the Single Sisters House is not maintained to board Negroes."
Note: It is unclear what tasks Kelby would complete for Jacobson when he worked for him. Jacobson was living in the Inspector’s House while he was the head of the Girls’ Boarding School. Based on this entry, it is possible that Kelby also worked for or boarded at the Single Sisters’ House.
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18. Jane

Servant of Maria Grunert, wife of the Assistant Principal of the Girls’ Boarding School; attempted to poison her mistress but killed their eight-year-old child Annie Grunert.

Dates of significance: March 4, 1865

Owner/Purchaser: Maria Susan Butner Grunert, Wife of Maximillian, Assistant Principal of Girls’ Boarding School

Location: Grunert Household

Role: Servant

Known Sources:

1. George Frederick Bahnson in Salem Diary, Daniel C. Crews and Lisa D. Bailey ed. Records of the Moravians in North Carolina, Volume XII: 1856-1866, Raleigh: State Department of Archives and History, 2000.

a. “March 4, 1865— Today something came to light that startled our whole community and made the ear of everyone who heard tingle. Sr. Grunert, Carrie, and Annie Grunert were taken with vomiting, but with no suspicion of any kind was aroused at first. But when little Annie most unexpectedly breathed her last, before midnight, it was strongly suspected that poison had something to do with the death of the little child. A post mortem examination proved arsenic in the stomach. Such poison had been bought some time ago by a negro man belonging to Bro. Hn. Butner in Bethany. Jane, the girl belonging to Sr. Grunert, and the negro man were arrested and brought to a preliminary trial. Jane finally confessed that in order to get back to Bethany she had repeatedly attempted to poison her mistress, and also on Friday by strewing arsenic on some rolls that were put into soup prepared for her. Providentially Sr. Grunert took a dislike to the soup and ate but little. Little Carrie took it, but did not eat much either, and gave it according to her request to little Annie, who ate the last, and thus put into her stomach a large quantity of arsenic, enough, it was said, to poison ten men!! Jane stated that the plan of poisoning her mistress had been suggested to her by John, a negro belonging to Bro. Fulkerson. John with Jane and Squire, the old negro from Bethany, were all sent to jail, although it appears now that the poison Squire bought for Jane was not used at all, but had been kept by her just as it was. There was fearful indignation, especially towards Jane and John, and the adoption of lynch law was strongly urged by some, but, thank God, rejected.”
Note: Bro. Hn. Butner refers to Herman Butner, the father of Maria Butner Grunert. While Jane is not in the direct service of the Girls’ Boarding School, she is directly affecting the daily life of the Assistant Principal.
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19. David Shober (Dave)

David Shober was enslaved by Anna Shober and the Salem Female Academy rented him from her during the last months of the Civil War. He continued to work for the school at least until the end of 1866. He was married to Betsy Ann Waugh, who died from complications due to childbirth in 1858, and then to Ellen Light. He lost three children to illness during the 1860s. He died in 1868 and was buried in the Second St. Philips Cemetery.

Dates of significance: March 23, 1865

Owner/Purchaser: Anna Shober

Location: Girls’ Boarding School

Role: Unknown

Known Sources:

1. 1860 United States Federal Census - Slave Schedules, Forsyth County, North Carolina 
a. Anna Shober is listed as having one 37-year-old black male slave, one 15-year-old female mulatto slave, and one slave house.

Note: David Shober is presumed to be the black male listed in the Slave Schedule.

2. Burial list, African Church Book in Thacker’s “African American References,” pg. 32

a. “October 1, Oct. 3, 1859— Betsy Ann, the property of Albert Waugh, (wife of David Shober), aged 24 y. – She was buried at Waughtowne.”
Note: Dave’s first wife Betsy died in 1859. Her owner lived in Waughtown, south of Salem, and it is likely that she and David did not live together.

3. Burial list, African Church Book in Thacker’s “African American References,” pg. 35 a. “1862 Aug 20, 1862 Aug. 22— Adelaide Sovira Victoria, child of David (Shober)
& Betsy Ann (Waugh). She was born Mar. 26, 1858, & attained the age of 4 y. 4 m. & 24 d. Her remains were interred at Waughtown.

Note: This is the first of the three children Dave Shober would lose before his death in 1868.

4. Marriage License, 1866, North Carolina Marriage Records, database and digital images, Ancestry.com 
a. “August the 31, 1866— I, P.E. Light, an acting Justice of the Peace for the County aforesaid, do hereby certify that this day personally appeared before me Davie Shober and wife Ellen, his wife late Light and acknowledged their cohabitation in the relation of husband and wife, since December, A.D. 1864.”
Note: David’s first wife died in 1858. Based on this record, he has been involved with Ellen Light since the end of 1864.

39

5. Augustus Fogle’s Steward Account of Salem Female Academy, Salem Academy &

College Archives, Winston-Salem, NC.

a. “March 23, 1865— This day: hired Mrs. Shober Black man Dave at one hundred seventy-five Dollars in bank bills for this year ending Dec the 30. 1865, she having the risk of of [sic] government laws & to have hire for her work wen [sic] she needs him at the same rates we give her, bank notes rate at four to one silver.” 
Note: This is after the Emancipation Proclamation but before the end of the Civil War. This agreement was meant to last until the end of 1865. It is not clear how the end of the War affected this agreement. Dave continues to appear in the Steward’s Account in 1865 and 1866.

b. September 4, 1865— “Dave for eight days, 4.00.”
c. September 11, 1865— “Dave for [illegible]”
d. November 6, 1865— “ferrage to Dave, 5 cents Note: Ferrage, French for shoeing horses

e. November 13, 1865— “Dave for one day, 8.80”
f. April 30, 1866— “Dave, 2.00”
g. May 21, 1866— “Dave, 2.00”
h. June 4, 1866— “Dave, cash 3.00”
i. June 18, 1866— “Ferrage to Dave, 60 cents”
j. June 25, 1866— “Dave, ten dollars.”
k. July 2, 1866— “Dave 18 days working…27.75”
l. July 30, 1866— “Dave 1.00”

m. August 6, 1866— “Two [trips] to Dave”
n. August 20, 1866— “Dave…5.00”
o. October 15, 1866— “Dave 2.00”
Note: The 1865-1866 Steward Account is the only known Steward Account book still in existence. By the time these entries were transferred to the Day books, the entries are simplified, such as “Kitchen expenses,” “washing,” or “Wages from Steward Acct.” This makes it difficult to know who was doing the work.

6. Burial list, African Church Book in Thacker’s “African American References,” pg. 37

a. “July 27, July 28, 1865— John Henry, a boy, son of David (Shober) & his wife Betsy Ann (Waugh) deceased. He died of consumption. As he was born in Waughtown on June 21st, 1851, his age was 14 years 1 m. 6 d.
7. Burial list, African Church Book in Thacker’s “African American References,” pg. 38

a. “Nov. 2, Nov. 3, 1865— Dora Elizabeth, an unbaptized child of David Shober & his wife Ellen (Light), aged about 13 months. The child was born Oct 3rd, 1864.
8. “People in Second Colored Cemetery” in Thacker’s “African American References,” pg.
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a. “72) Feb 14, 1868, David Shober, widower.”
40

9. 1870 United States Federal Census, Broadbay, Forsyth County, database and digital images, Ancestry.com
a. “Ellen Shober, 26, F, B, at home, cannot read, cannot write.”
b. “David Shober, 4, M, M, at home, cannot read, cannot write.”
Note: This census was taken after David Shober died in 1868; however, he had a son with Ellen Light Shober in 1866, also named David. According to city directories at the turn of the 20th century, this second David Shober would go on to work for the R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Company.
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